IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

VENNIT B. MATHIS, II

APPELLANT

VS.

CASE NO. 2008-CA-00620

ERA FRANCHISE SYSTEMS, INC., ET AL.

APPELLEES

I. CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court and/or the Judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Vennit B. Mathis, II ("Mathis"), Appellant;
- 2. Sam S. Thomas and Eddie J. Abdeen, Attorneys for Appellant;
- 3. ERA Franchise Systems, Inc. ("ERA"), Appellee;

IV. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE(S)

- 1. Whether ERA and the other Appellees (through their separate joinders to ERA's 12(b)(6) motion) have waived the right to assert the affirmative defense that Mathis lacks standing to prosecute certain claims that arise out of, among other things, alleged wrongs ERA and the other Appellees have perpetrated against Real Estate Professionals, LLC ("REP"), a closely held limited liability company in which Mathis and Irby are each 50% equity owners.
- 2. Whether, under Mississippi law, a trial court, in relation to a closely-held corporation, has the discretionary authority to treat an action raising derivative claims as a direct action, exempt it from those restrictions and defenses applicable only to derivative actions, and order an individual recovery, if it finds that to do so will not (I) unfairly expose the corporation or the defendants to a multiplicity of actions, (ii) materially prejudice the interests of the creditors of the corporation, or (iii) interfere with a fair distribution of the recovery among all interested persons ("Closely-Held Corporation Direct Action Doctrine").
- 3. Whether, if Mathis establishes the conditions for invoking the doctrine (set forth in the preceding paragraph), Mathis is entitled to utilize the Closely-Held Corporation Direct Action Doctrine to obtain an individual recovery for the claims of REP against ERA, Irby and the other Appellees that are in the nature of derivative claims.
- 4. Whether all of the claims asserted by Mathis are derivative claims of REP.

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE/OPERATIVE FACTS

A. <u>Background/Procedural History.</u>

The following background/procedural facts have bearing on and/or are pertinent to the issues raised in this appeal, including the issue of whether ERA and the other Appellees have waived any right they may have had to contest whether Mathis has individual standing to assert the claims of REP that are derivative in nature:

- 1. At all times relevant hereto Mathis was a 50% equity owner/member of REP, a closely-held limited liability corporation, which operated a real estate brokerage business as an ERA franchisee. At a time when Irby was the other 50% equity owner of REP and Chip Hill was an agent of REP, Irby and Chip Hill transferred the assets of REP to Appellees REP-Central and REP-Pine Belt (entities formed by Irby, Chip Hill and Warren, who was also an employee and/or agent of REP, and in which Mathis had no equity ownership) and, with ERA's full knowledge, approval and participation, began conducting a real estate brokerage business utilizing the ERA trademark. (R. 17-21 Complaint of Mathis);
- 2. On May 8, 2003, Mathis filed his complaint in this action in the Covington County Chancery Court. Relying upon *Derouen v. Murray*, 604 So. 2d 1086, 1091 n. 2 (Miss. 1992), Mathis sought, among other things, to have the trial court declare that he was entitled to obtain an individual recovery on the claims of REP that were derivative in nature (that arose out of the breaches of fiduciary and other duties of Irby and Chip Hill described herein). (R. 22-23 Mathis's Complaint at Count I). Mathis sought to proceed under *Derouen, supra*, so that, among other things, Irby, the other 50% equity owner/member of REP, would not benefit from any recovery of damages by REP that flowed from Irby's breaches of duty to REP, including the transfer of REP's assets to REP-

Central and REP-Pine Belt and the subsequent conduct of REP's real estate brokerage business those such entities;

- 3. In June of 2003, Irby, REP-Pine Belt and ERA moved to stay this action because of an interpleader action ERA filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Mississippi styled, "ERA Franchise Systems, Inc. v. Real Estate Professionals, LLC, et al.", Civil Action No. 3:02CV171WS.(R.35-40). Thereafter, Mathis filed his response in opposition to that motion and the trial court denied the stay request on October 9, 2003. (R.154-163 and 258-263, respectively). The federal court then granted the motion to dismiss of Mathis, ruling that no federal jurisdiction existed:
- 4. On or about June 11, 2003, ERA filed its answer to Mathis's Complaint, counterclaims and cross-claims. (R.41-61). ERA asserted Mathis lacked standing as its fourth affirmative defense. (R.41);
- 5. On or about June 16, 2003, Warren and REP-Central filed their answer to Mathis's Complaint. (R.65-77). Consistent with the answer filed by ERA, Warren and REP-Central asserted Mathis lacked standing as their fourth affirmative defense. (R.66);
- 6. On or about June 18, 2003, Irby and REP-Pine Belt filed their answer to Mathis's Complaint. (R.80-89). However, neither Irby nor REP-Pine Belt asserted Mathis lacked standing to file the asserted claims;
- 7. Active Participation in the Discovery Process by Appellees Prior to ERA's Removal,
 Subject Matter Jurisdiction Motion and Related Interlocutory Appeal to this Court:
 - a. On June 30, 2003, Chip Hill was deposed by all parties. (R.860-862);
- b. On or about September 5, 2003, ERA noticed the deposition of Mathis and, along with the other Appellees, subsequently deposed Mathis on or about October 14, 2003. (R.164-165;

171-172; 242-243; 248-249);

- c. On September 10, 2003 Irby and REP-Pinebelt served interrogatories and requests for production of documents upon Mathis pursuant to M.R.C.P. 33 and 34, respectively. (R.166-167);
- d. On September 11, 2003, ERA served written discovery on certain of the other Appellees. (R.168-169);
- e. On or about September 11, 2003, ERA served a subpoena duces tecum upon Vennitt Mathis, Sr. and Mid-South Services, Inc. (R.285-290);
 - f. On September 15, 2003, ERA served written discovery on Mathis. (R.173-174);
- g. On September 22, 2003, ERA, along with certain of the other Appellees, noticed the deposition of Vennit B. Mathis, Sr. (Mathis's father). (R.244-245; 246-247);
- h. On September 29, 2003, ERA served its responses and objections to the written discovery of Mathis. (R.250-251);
- i. On September 29, 2003, REP-Central served written discovery on Mathis. (R.252-253);
- j. On October 14, 2003, Irby and REP-Pine Belt served their responses and objections to the written discovery of Mathis. (R.266-267); and
- k. On October 30, 2003, ERA filed a discovery motion in relation to its written discovery served upon Mathis. (R.301-303).
- 8. On November 10, 2003, the trial court entered an agreed scheduling order wherein the parties (except for Chip Hill and Pamela Hill) agreed to various pre-trial deadlines (amendments, experts, discovery, etc.) tied to a trial date of May 10, 2004. (R.371-376);
 - 9. On November 24, 2003, without ever having filed an answer to Mathis's Complaint,

Chip Hill and Pamela Hill filed a Chapter 11 Bankruptcy Petition in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of Mississippi, Case No. 03-55758. (R.382);

- 10. On December 19, 2003, ERA removed this action to the United States District Court for the Southern District of Mississippi on the basis of the Hill bankruptcy proceeding. (R.409);
- 11. On March 25, 2004, Mathis was granted relief from the automatic stay as to the Hill's bankruptcy proceeding to proceed to reduce his claim to judgment against the Hills. (R.437-440);
- 12. On May 4, 2004, the United States District Court for the Southern District of Mississippi granted the Motion to Remand and/or Abstain of Mathis. (R.407-418);
- 13. On May 10, 2004, ERA filed a Motion to Transfer Civil Action to Circuit Court asserting the Covington County Chancery Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to preside over the claims asserted by Mathis. (R.421-428);
- 14. On or about May 17, 2004, Irby, Warren, REP-Pine Belt and REP-Central joined in ERA's subject matter jurisdiction motion. (R.429-432);
- 15. On or about December 7, 2004, Warren served written discovery on Mathis. (R.476-477);
- 16. On December 30, 2004, Warren served his responses and objections to Mathis's written discovery. (R.478-479);
- 17. After a hearing on ERA's subject matter jurisdiction motion (which Mathis opposed), the Covington County Chancery Court denied the motion and, after ERA perfected an interlocutory appeal and the briefing scheduled was completed by the parties, this Court, on June 22, 2006, handed down its decision in *ERA Franchise Systems, Inc. v. Mathis*, 931 So. 2d 1278, 1281 (Miss. 2006) which transferred this action to the Covington County Circuit Court. (R.441-449);
 - 18. On October 20, 2006, the Covington County Circuit Court entered an agreed

- scheduling order tied to a January 7, 2008 trial date. (R.627-631);
- 19. On or about May 29, 2007, Irby and REP-Pine Belt served their responses and objections to requests for admission of Mathis. (R.724-740);
- 20. On or about June 12, 2007, Irby and REP-Pine Belt filed a motion for extension of time to respond to the second requests for production and interrogatories of Mathis. (R.739-741);
- 21. On July 16, 2007, Mathis filed a motion to amend the scheduling order because, among other things, Irby, Warren, REP-Central and REP-Pine Belt had failed to produce the accounting and financial information Mathis had requested in discovery for the purpose of supplementing its expert designation/damage calculation. (R.742-776);
- 22. On or about July 26, 2007, Irby and REP-Pine Belt served their responses and objections to Mathis's second set of written discovery. (R.777-778);
- 23. On July 31, 2007, over four years after Mathis had filed his complaint in this action, ERA filed, pursuant to M.R.C.P. 12(b)(6), its Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Standing. (R.779-782);
- 24. On August 1, 2007, Irby and REP-Pine Belt served written discovery on Mathis. (R.890-891);
- On August 23, 2007, Irby and REP-Pine Belt joined in ERA's Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Standing. (R.892-893);
- 26. On August 27, 2007, ERA noticed its lack of standing motion for hearing on October 12, 2007. (R.896-897);
- 27. On October 3, 2007, Warren and REP-Central joined in ERA's Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Standing. (R.908-910);
 - 28. On October 5, 2007, Irby designated an expert witness. (R.914-916);
 - 29. On October 11, 2007, Mathis served, via fax and mail, a written response to ERA's

lack of standing motion. (R. 919-925).

30. At the October 12, 2007 hearing on ERA's lack of standing motion, Mathis argued, in addition to his argument based on *Derouen v. Murray*, 604 So. 2d 1086, 1091 n. 2 (Miss. 1992), that ERA and the other Appellees had waived any right they had to assert Mathis lacked standing to pursue the claims set forth in his complaint. Specifically, Mathis, through his counsel, argued, in pertinent part, as follows:

One point I would add, though, is this suit was filed on May 8, 2003. And I would hand the Court Mississippi Credit Center, Inc. v. Horton [MS Credit Center v. Horton, 926 So. 2d 167 (Miss. 2006)] and suggest to the Court, based on paragraph 41 ... that we're kind of late here arguing something that should have been dealt with long ago. And I'd like the record to reflect that that argument is made to Your Honor as well when it [this action] goes to high street [referring to the instant appeal].

(R.Vol. 8 – Hearing Transcript at p. 12).

- 31. On January 23, 2008, the trial court issued a letter ruling granting ERA's Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Standing and directing that ERA prepare an order for circulation among counsel and presentation to the court. (R.943-944);
- 32. On February 11, 2008, Mathis filed a Motion for Clarification of Court's Ruling and Request for Status Conference. (R.929-932). Through such motion, Mathis sought, among other things, (1) to have the trial court clarify its ruling as it only addressed the claims of Mathis against ERA despite the other Appellees having joined in ERA's lack of standing motion; and (2) to have the trial court determine whether M.R.C.P. 54(b) treatment of its ruling would be appropriate as ERA was resistant to Mathis being able to obtain an appeal as a matter of right as opposed to having to seek an interlocutory appeal. (R.930). Irby, REP-Pine Belt, Warren and REP-Central joined in Mathis's motion. (R.939-942;952-955);
 - 33. On March 14, 2008, the trial court entered its Partial Judgment of Dismissal and

Certification Pursuant to M.R.C.P. 54(b). (R.956-959). The trial court, having considered ERA's Motion and Memorandum, the joinders therein filed by the other Appellees, Mathis's response in opposition and all of the arguments of the parties presented at the October 12, 2007 hearing, found, among other things, that Mathis "lacked standing to pursue any claims against any Defendant [Appellee]" that were "in the nature of derivative claims belonging to [REP]" and that all of the Plaintiff's claims against ERA were derivative. (R.956); and

34. After the entry of such judgment, Mathis timely perfected his appeal to this Court. (R.960-961).

B. Facts and Claims Pled in the Complaint.

As alleged in the complaint filed in this action, Mathis is and was at all times pertinent hereto a 50% equity owner/member in REP, a closely-held limited liability corporation. (Paragraph 11 - R. 17-18). REP held an ERA franchise, evidenced by a Renewal Membership Agreement ("Franchise Agreement"). (Para. 11 - R. 17-18). When Mathis became an equity owner of REP, Mathis personally guaranteed the obligations of REP to ERA under the Franchise Agreement.(Para. 11 - R. 17-18). After Mathis made his equity investment in REP, Chip Hill, a co-owner of REP and the licensed real estate broker through whom REP conducted business, induced Mathis to make working capital loans to REP that totaled several hundred thousand dollars. (Paras. 11-12 - R. 17-18)¹.

Subsequent to Mathis becoming an equity owner of REP, Chip Hill and Pamela Hill sold their equity interest in REP to Irby but remained employees and/or agents of REP. (Para. 13 - R.18).

After Mathis made his equity investment in REP and had made various working capital loans to REP, Chip Hill induced Mathis to make additional loans to him, as well as REP, by representing to Mathis that he would transfer ownership in various parcels of real property held in Chip Hill's name in addition to paying back the loaned funds. In reliance on Chip Hill's representation, Mathis made the additional loans. (Paras. 12 - R. 18).

Thereafter, Chip Hill, Irby, and Warren, who was an employee and/or agent of REP², formed REP-Central and REP-Pine Belt and transferred the assets of REP to such entities thereby converting REP's assets and excluding Mathis from the business of REP. (Para. 13 - R. 18-19). In addition to the individual Appellees/Defendants transferring the hard assets of REP, as well as the real estate listings of REP, to REP-Central and REP-Pine Belt, such Appellees/Defendants induced the real estate sales agents of REP to terminate and/or otherwise not honor their agent contracts with REP and to become real estate agents for REP-Central and REP-Pine Belt. (Para. 14 - R. 19).

The individual Appellees/Defendants thereafter began conducting a real estate brokerage business through REP-Central and REP-Pine Belt with REP's misappropriated franchise rights, including the use of the ERA logo. (Para. 15 - R. 19-20). REP-Central and REP-Pine Belt began earning commission revenue from the sales of real estate and allowed monies owed to ERA for the use of its logo, etc. to accumulate as debt in REP. (Para. 15 - R. 19-20)³.

As a matter of fact and law, the relationship between REP (as principal) and Chip Hill, Pamela Hill (after they sold their equity interest in REP), Warren and Irby, who was also a licensed real estate agent and/or broker, (as agents) was fiduciary in nature. Van Zandt v. Van Zandt, 86 So.2d 466, 469 (Miss. 1956)(relationship existent between principal and agent is fiduciary one, demanding conditions of trust and confidence). Such Appellees/Defendants, as agents of REP, had a duty to act in the best interest, and not to the detriment of, REP, their principal. Estate of Hardy v. Seay, 805 So.2d 515, 519 (Miss. 2002); Van Zandt, 86 So. 2d at 470 (agent owes duty of utmost loyalty and good faith to his principal).

Through its counter-claim, ERA is seeking to hold Mathis liable under his personal guarantee for any and all damages ERA has asserted it sustained arising out of the alleged breach of the Franchise Agreement. (Paras. 31-32 of ERA's Counter-Claim – R. 107-108; and Para. 16 of Mathis's Complaint – R.20-21). While this appeal is "on the record", what is particularly egregious is that counsel for Irby, Mr. Dennis Horn, Esq., has informed the undersigned counsel that, during the pendency of this action, ERA has granted REP-Central (which conducts business in the Metro Jackson Area) a new ERA franchise agreement. REP-Central's website corroborates this fact. See www.jacksonera.com, including the corporate overview portion of such site, where Warren states, among other things, that REP is one of REP-Central's

All of the wrongful conduct of the individual Appellees/Defendants, as well as Appellees/Defendants REP-Central and REP-Pine Belt, took place with ERA's full knowledge, approval, and participation. (Paras. 13 and 16 - R. 19-21). As a result, ERA has wrongfully and knowingly joined in and/or conspired with Chip Hill, Warren and Irby, as well as the other Appellees/Defendants, to breach the fiduciary duty and other duties owed REP and Mathis. *Knox Glass Bottle Co. v. Underwood*, 89 So. 2d 799, 820 (Miss. 1956)(person who knowingly assists fiduciary in committing breach of trust is himself guilty of tortious conduct and is liable for harm thereby caused).

Based on the foregoing core set of facts, Mathis has asserted claims and/or seeks relief in his complaint as follows:

- 1. A declaratory judgment:
- a. That, pursuant to *Derouen v. Murray*, 604 So. 2d 1086, 1091 n. 2 (Miss. 1992), Mathis can raise the derivative claims that belong to REP as a direct action, including the claims against Appellees Chip Hill, Pamela Hill, Warren, Irby and ERA for: breach of the fiduciary duty owed REP and Mathis (by virtue of REP's status as a closely-held limited liability corporation), violation of the duty of loyalty, care, and fair dealing, as well as usurpation of REP's corporate opportunities, and tortious interference with REP's contracts and/or business advantage arising from the transfer of REP's assets to Appellees REP-Central and REP-Pine Belt and causing REP's sales agents to terminate and/or otherwise not honor their contracts with REP and to become sales agents for such Appellees. (Count I Para. 20.a. R. 22);
 - b. That ERA is estopped from attempting to enforce the guarantee that Mathis signed,

predecessors.

wherein he personally guaranteed the debt of REP to ERA, as a result of ERA knowingly joining in the breaches of duty to REP and Mathis (Count I – Para. 20.b. – R. 22-23); and

- c. That REP-Central and REP-Pine Belt are corporate opportunities of REP or, alternatively, that Mathis owns 50% of such entities and/or the assets of such entities (Count I Para. 20. c. R. 23);
 - 2. Breach of Fiduciary Duty to REP and Mathis (Count II Paras. 21-24 R. 23-24);
- 3. Joining in Breach of Fiduciary Duties to REP and Mathis (Count III Paras. 25-27 R. 24-25);
- 4. Violation of Duty of Care, Duty of Loyalty, Duty of Fair Dealing, and Usurpation of Corporate Opportunity in relation to REP (Count IV- Paras. 28-30 R. 25-26);
- Tortious Interference with Contract (REP's contracts)(Count V- Paras. 31-33 R.
 27);
- 6. Interference with Prospective Business Advantage (REP's business advantage)(Count VI Paras. 34-36 R. 27);
- 7. Civil Conspiracy and/or Aiding and Abetting (in relation to the various counts asserted in the complaint) (Count VII Paras. 37-39 R. 28);
- 8. Accounting (for all of the money and assets embezzled from REP, as well as the profits of REP-Central and REP-Pine Belt)(Count VIII Paras. 40-41- R. 28);
- 9. Constructive Trust (in relation to all profits made from the wrongful conduct of the defendants and in relation to the parcels of real estate Chip Hill promised to transfer to Mathis)(
 Count IX Paras. 42-44 R. 29);
- 10. Breach of Contract to Convey Real Estate (Mathis seeks specific performance in relation to Chip Hill's agreement to transfer parcels of real estate to Mathis) (Count X Paras. 45-46

- R. 29-30);

- 11. Equitable Conversion (in relation to the parcels of real estate Chip Hill agreed to transfer to Mathis)(Count XI Paras. 47-49 R. 30); and
- 12. Breach of Contract ERA (ERA's breach of REP's Franchise Agreement and Mathis's related personal guarantee to ERA)(Count XII Paras. 50-54 R. 30-31)⁴.

VI. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

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