#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

#### CASE NO. 2008-CA-00620

**VENNIT B. MATHIS, II** 

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

ERA FRANCHISE SYSTEMS, INC.,
JACKIE R. HILL, PAMELA HILL,
H. STUART IRBY, MARK WARREN,
REAL ESTATE PROFESSIONALS OF CENTRAL
MISSISSIPPI, LLC and REAL ESTATE
PROFESSIONALS OF THE PINE BELT, LLC

**APPELLEES** 

# BRIEF OF APPELLEE ERA FRANCHISE SYSTEMS, INC.

### ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COVINGTON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

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

In sum, the Circuit Court did not err in concluding that Mathis lacks standing to pursue any of the claims he has asserted against ERA in this direct action solely for his own benefit, and the Partial Judgment of Dismissal disposing of all of Mathis' claims against ERA should be affirmed.

#### **ARGUMENT**

# I. MATHIS IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED FROM RAISING HIS WAIVER ARGUMENT FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL.

It is well-established that the Mississippi Supreme Court "sits to review actions of trial courts and that [the Court] should undertake consideration of no matter which has not first been presented to and decided by the trial court." Educational Placement Services v. Wilson, 487 So.2d 1316, 1320 (Miss. 1986) (emphasis added); see also Jones v. Flour Daniels Services, Corp., 959 So.2d 1044, 1048 (Miss. 2007) ("We do not consider issues raised for the first time on appeal."); Alexander v. Daniel, 904 So.2d 172, 183 (Miss. 2005) (stating that "we need not consider matters raised for the first time on appeal, which practice would have the practical effect of depriving the trial court of the opportunity to first rule on the issue"); Triplett v. Mayor and Board of Aldermen of the City of Vicksburg, 758 So.2d 399, 401 (Miss. 2000) ("This Court has long held that it will not consider matters raised for the first time on appeal."). As noted by a leading commentator on Mississippi Appellate Practice: The Mississippi Supreme Court "sits only to correct errors of the trial court [and s]ound judicial administration requires that the trial court be given the first opportunity to pass upon every issue in the case." Munford, Mississippi Appellate Practice, § 3.7 (MLI Press 2007). Failure of a party to both present an issue to the trial court and receive a ruling on the issue from the trial court will result in the issue being "procedurally barred" on appeal. Triplett, 758 So.2d at 401-02.

Mathis is procedurally barred from raising on appeal the issue of whether ERA waived its right to challenge his standing because Mathis failed to either properly raise the issue below or

receive a ruling on the issue from the Circuit Court prior to commencing this appeal. As outlined above, Mathis failed to raise the issue of waiver in his Response brief filed in opposition to ERA's Motion to Dismiss, and Mathis failed to cite the Horton opinion, handed down in February 2006, in his Response brief filed more than one and one-half years later on October 11, 2007. Further, Mathis affirmatively represented to the Circuit Court in his Response that "[all] of the authorities relied upon by Mathis are set forth and the standing issue before the Court related to the claims of Mathis is narrow." (R.E. Tab 11; R. 924) Finally, during the oral argument on ERA's Motion to Dismiss, Mathis' Counsel failed to argue that it was his position that ERA had "waived" its right to pursue its standing challenge or attempt to offer any argument or evidence to meet the elements of waiver under MS Credit Center v. Horton, 926 So.2d 167 (Miss. 2006), and its progeny. In fact, Mathis' Counsel never uses the word "waiver" at any time during the course of his argument. Rather, Mathis' Counsel simply handed the Circuit Judge a copy of the Horton decision and summarily stated: "we're kind of late here arguing something that should have been dealt with long ago." Mathis has failed to cite any authority (and undersigned counsel is unaware of any such authority) supporting his assertion that handing to the trial judge a copy of an opinion and making a vague reference to a rule of law discussed in that opinion is sufficient to present an issue to the trial court.

Turning to the issue of whether the Circuit Court considered and ruled on Mathis' waiver argument, neither the Circuit Court's letter ruling granting ERA's Motion to Dismiss, nor Mathis' Motion for Clarification of the Circuit Court's letter ruling make any reference to the waiver argument. Moreover, the Court's March 14, 2008 Partial Judgment of Dismissal and Certification Pursuant to M.R.C.P. 54(b), which was drafted by Mathis' Counsel and submitted to the parties and the Court for review, makes no specific reference to Mathis' waiver argument.

Thus, there is no indication whatsoever for the Circuit Court that it ever considered, much less decided the issue of waiver.

Simply stated, having failed to either present the issue of waiver to the Circuit Court or obtain a ruling from the Circuit Court on this issue, Mathis is procedurally barred from raising his waiver argument for the first time on appeal. Accordingly, the Court should decline to consider the merits of Mathis' waiver argument.

# II. STANDING IS A JURISDICTIONAL ISSUE THAT MAY BE RAISED BY ANY PARTY OR THE COURT AT ANY TIME.

Even if the Court were to conclude that Mathis is not procedurally barred from raising his waiver argument on appeal, it is also well-settled under Mississippi law that standing is a jurisdictional issue that cannot be waived.

As a general matter, "subject matter jurisdiction may not be waived and may be asserted at any stage of the proceeding or even collaterally." Esco v. Scott, 735 So.2d 1002, 1006 (Miss. 1999); see also In re Adoption of R.M.P.C., 512 So.2d 702, 706 (Miss. 1987) ("Subject matter jurisdiction, of course, cannot be waived."). Specifically, with respect to the defense of lack of standing, the Court has held that "standing is a 'jurisdictional issue which may be raised by any party or the Court at any time." Kirk v. Pope, 973 So.2d 981, 989 (Miss. 2007) (quoting City of Madison v. Bryan, 763 So.2d 162, 166 (Miss. 2000) (citing Williams v. Stevens, 390 So.2d 1012, 1014 (Miss. 1980)). Mathis has failed to cite any authority to rebut this clear rule of law or support his assertion that "ERA and other Appellees have waived their right, as a matter of law, to defend this action on the basis of Mathis' lack of standing." App. Brief at pg. 15. Further, undersigned counsel has been unable to identify any Mississippi case law holding that a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> See also Miss. R. Civ. Pro. 12(h)(3) ("Whenever it appears by suggestion of the parties or otherwise that the court lacks jurisdiction of the subject mater, the court shall dismiss the action or transfer the action to the court of proper jurisdiction.") and Comment to Miss. R. Civ. Pro. 12(h)(3) ("Under Rule 12(h)(3) a question of subject matter jurisdiction may be presented at any time, either by motion or answer. Further, it may be asserted as a motion for relief from a final judgment under MRCP 60(b)(4) or may be presented for the first time on appeal.").

defendant's participation in discovery or motion practice may result in the waiver of that defendant's right to challenge plaintiff's standing. This is not surprising, as the issue of standing may be raised at anytime, even by an appellate court or in a collateral proceeding. See e.g., Williams, 390 So.2d at 1015 (stating "the threshold issue of standing to sue . . . should be resolved by remand to the trial court before we reach the constitutional issue"); Esco, 735 So.2d at 1006 (recognizing that standing may be challenged in a collateral proceeding).

Accordingly, because Mathis' standing to pursue the instant claims against ERA can be challenged at any time, Mathis' waiver argument is legally infirm. 11

# III. MATHIS HAS NOT AND PLAINLY CANNOT MEET HIS BURDEN TO ESTABLISH THAT ERA WAIVED ITS RIGHT TO CHALLENGE STANDING PURSUANT TO HORTON AND ITS PROGENY.

Finally, even if the Court were inclined to change the law and adopt Mathis' argument that a defendant may waive its right to challenge plaintiff's standing as a result of participating in discovery or motion practice, Mathis failed to proffer to the Circuit Court any evidence to meet his burden under <u>Horton</u> and its progeny establishing that ERA both "substantially and unreasonably delayed" raising by motion its standing defense, and "actively participated in the litigation process." Moreover, a review of the record reveals that ERA did not substantially and unreasonably delay filing its Motion to Dismiss, and, following transfer of the case to a court with subject matter jurisdiction, ERA did not actively participate in the litigation process prior to filing it Motion to Dismiss. Accordingly, Mathis has not and plainly cannot meet his burden to establish waiver under Horton.

While ERA recognizes that the failure to timely raise an affirmative defense may result in the waiver of that affirmative defense, standing is not an affirmative defense. Standing is not one of the nineteen affirmative defenses enumerated by Miss. R. Civ. Pro. 8(c). Likewise, standing does not fall within the ambit of Rule 8(c)'s catch-all of "a matter constituting an avoidance or affirmative defense," as the plaintiff, not the defendant bears the burden of proof on the issue of standing. See Hertz Commercial Leasing Div. v. Morrison, 567 So.2d 832, 834 (Miss. 1990) ("If a matter is an affirmative defense, the defendant bears the burden of production and the risk of non-persuasion.") (citations omitted).

## A. THE DOCTRINE OF WAIVER, AS DEFINED BY THE COURT IN HORTON AND ITS PROGENY.

In <u>Horton</u>, the Mississippi Supreme Court held that the defendant had waived its right to compel arbitration as a result of having "substantially engage[d] in the litigation process by consenting to a scheduling order, engaging in written discovery and conducting Horton's deposition," coupled with an "unreasonable delay in brining the issue [of arbitration] before the trial court for adjudication." <u>Horton</u>, 926 So.2d at 181. The Court was clear in holding that "neither delay in pursuing the right to compel arbitration, nor participation in the litigation process, standing alone, will constitute waiver. . . . . However where-as here-there is substantial and unreasonable delay in pursuing the right [to compel arbitration], coupled with active participation in the litigation process, we will not hesitate to find a waiver of the right to compel arbitration." Id.

In East Mississippi State Hospital v. Adams, 947 So.2d 887 (Miss. 2007), the Mississippi Supreme Court addressed the issue of "whether the defendants waived the defenses of insufficiency of process and insufficiency of service of process by failing to pursue them until almost two years after they raised them in their answer while actively participating in the litigation." Id. at 890-91. Plaintiffs argued that "the Defendants have participated in substantial discovery in the form of interrogatories, production requests, depositions, designation of experts, scheduling order, and trial date order, all of which occurred from the filing of the lawsuit on July 2, 2003 until the trial courts' denial [of Plaintiffs' motion to dismiss] in September 2005." Id. at 890. The Court, concluding that "defendants participated fully in the litigation of the merits for two years without actively contesting jurisdiction in any way," held that "on this record we conclude that the defendants waived the defenses of insufficiency of process and insufficiency of service of process." Id. at 891.

Finally, in Estate of Grimes v. Warrington, 982 So.2d 365 (Miss. 2008), the Mississippi Supreme Court addressed the issue of defendant's waiver of his immunity defense under the Mississippi Tort Claims Act by failing to pursue the defense in the more than five years between the filing of the complaint on June 4, 2001 and the filing on August 3, 2006 of defendants' motion for summary judgment solely predicated on his immunity defense. Id. at 370. The Court began its analysis by noting that defendant offers no explanation why he did not move the lower court for summary judgment until 2006. Id. Further, the Court noted that defendant offers "no evidence that any information needed to assist this affirmative defense was not available to him from the inception of the litigation." Id. Finally, the Court concluded that the substantial discovery conducted by the parties, designation of experts, in limine motion practice, and the setting and re-setting of this matter for trial "was an unnecessary and excessive waste of time and resources of the parties and the court." Id. Based on these facts, the Court concluded because defendant "unreasonably delayed more that five years in pursuing [his immunity] defense and actively participated in discovery on the merits, he has waived this defense under Adams." Id. at 370-71.

In <u>Horton</u>, <u>Adams</u>, and <u>Grimes</u>, the Court applied the doctrine of waiver to affirmative defenses. The Court in these cases was not faced with a situation where the defendant was challenging the subject matter jurisdiction of the Court. In addition, each of the affirmative defenses at issue in these cases was apparent from the inception of the litigation and did not require the respective defendants to conduct any discovery prior to asserting the relevant defense by motion. Specifically, the affirmative defenses of arbitration, improper service of process, insufficiency of process and statutory immunity readily are identifiable upon inspection of the summons and complaint. Finally, none of the discovery that any of the defendants requested and

obtained in any of these three cases was relevant to the merits of the relevant affirmative defense that the Court ultimately determined had been waived.

B. ERA NEITHER SUBSTANTIALLY AND UNREASONABLY DELAYED RAISING BY MOTION ITS STANDING DEFENSE, NOR ACTIVELY PARTICIPATED IN THE LITIGATION PROCESS AFTER THE CASE WAS TRANSFERRED TO A COURT WITH SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION OVER MATHIS' CLAIMS.

At the outset, we note that Mathis failed to raise any argument or proffer any evidence to the Circuit Court to support a finding that ERA either substantially and unreasonably delayed raising by motion its challenge to standing, or actively participated in the litigation process after the case was transferred to a court with subject matter jurisdiction over Mathis' claims. Thus, Mathis' plainly has failed to meet his burden to establish each of the elements supporting a finding of waiver.

Moreover, should the Court decide to engage in a review of the procedural history of this case, it is clear that ERA did not substantially and unreasonably delay the filing of its motion challenging Mathis' standing. As outlined above, prior to filing its Motion to Dismiss, ERA spent more than three years, from June 11, 2003 through June 22, 2006, seeking to have the case transferred to a court with subject matter jurisdiction over Mathis' claims. These efforts ultimately led to the granting of an interlocutory appeal by the Court and an order instructing the Chancery Court to transfer this case to the Circuit Court. ERA did not act unreasonably in seeking to have this case transferred to a court with subject matter jurisdiction prior to filing its dispositive motion seeking dismissal of Mathis' claims for lack of standing. Thus, ERA respectfully submits that the time it spent ultimately succeeding in having this action transferred to a court with subject matter jurisdiction should be disregarded when evaluating whether it "substantially and unreasonably delayed" raising by motion its standing defense.

Further, unlike the affirmative defenses that were at issue in <u>Horton</u>, <u>Adams</u>, and <u>Grimes</u>, it was necessary for ERA to conduct discovery regarding the facts and circumstances supporting each of Mathis' claims against ERA in order for ERA to evaluate whether each claim was individual or derivative in nature. Such a determination could not have been made from the face of Mathis' Complaint, and without the benefit of this discovery, ERA would have been unable to evaluate what claims were subject to dismissal due to Mathis' lack of standing. The fruits of ERA's discovery efforts were cited in and attached in support of ERA's Motion to Dismiss. <sup>12</sup> Thus, it is clear that ERA was not acting unreasonably or unnecessarily by seeking to evaluate through discovery the scope of and obtain evidence in support of its standing challenge prior to raising it by motion.

Finally, once this case was transferred to a court with subject matter jurisdiction over Mathis' claims, ERA did not actively participate in the litigation process. ERA did not conduct any additional discovery following transfer of this case from the Chancery Court to the Circuit Court, and the first motion filed by ERA in the Circuit Court was its Motion to Dismiss Mathis' claims for lack of standing.

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